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Cameron Baird was committed to building an exceptional musical 
culture in the city of Buffalo. He founded the Buffalo Oratorio Chorus 
in 1930, conducted the Buffalo Schola Cantorum for ten years 
beginning in 1945, worked with Frederick Slee, Samuel Capen, and 
others to establish the Buffalo Philharmonic Orchestra in 1934 (with 
the first concert season being 1935-36), continued working with the 
Philharmonic with input and influence on matters including hiring 
musical directors Lajos Shuk, Franco Autori, William Steinberg, and 
Josef Krips, founded the music department at the University of Buffalo 
in 1952 and served as its first chair until his death in 1960, and likely 
influenced his friend Frederick Slee as he shaped the bequests to the 
University that funded the position of Slee Lecturer in Music and the 
annual Slee Beethoven Quartet Cycle concert series. 

William Steinberg 
Unidentified photographer 

Josef Krips 
Unidentified photographer 

Perry Collection C15_023 Perry Collection C08_032 

This exhibit is about Cameron Baird’s efforts to bring two of the world’s 
most notable composers to the University of Buffalo, Paul Hindemith 
and Aaron Copland. The stories demonstrate the range of Baird’s reach 



    
     

    
 

    
     

      
    
     

      
     

 

 
 

       
   

 
 

       
     

    
     

in the musical world at the time and provide a measure of his 
humanitarianism and courage in the face of political factors beyond the 
world of music. 

During the early 1930s Cameron Baird took breaks from his position in 
the administration of the Buffalo Pipe and Foundry Company to travel 
to Europe to study music. He studied conducting with Bruno Walter 
and Felix Weingarten in Salzburg, Austria and applied to study 
composition with Paul Hindemith at the Berlin Hochschule für Musik. 
The contacts he made with musicians during these trips would prove 
highly valuable to him back in Buffalo. 

Bruno Walter 
Photograph by Susan Hoeller 

Perry Collection C18_038 

It was quite likely Baird’s contact with Hindemith in Berlin that laid the 
groundwork for Hindemith to appear with the Buffalo Philharmonic 
Orchestra during his first visit to the United States. Hindemith 
conducted his Symphony ‘Mathis der Maler’ and performed as viola 



      
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

      
    

      
 

 
  

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 
 

soloist in his Der Schwanendreher with the Orchestra on its April 23 
1937 program. 

Paul Hindemith 
Photograph by Rudolf Hindemith 

Perry Collection C07_021 

While in Buffalo for the 1937 performance with the Buffalo 
Philharmonic Orchestra, Hindemith expressed his feelings about 
Cameron Baird in a letter to his wife Gertrud April 22 1937: 

[…] Heart and soul of musical affairs is the young vice-director of an iron 
pipe foundry, Cameron Baird. My musical grandchild, for during the time 
when business was bad in America he travelled to Berlin to study music; he 
came to me and I directed him to [Harald] Genzmer, who gave him lessons 
and later passed him on to [Bernhard] Heiden – to the latter’s good 
fortune, for the kindhearted Baird was a great help to the Heidens when 
they moved to America. Today, too, he got them to come up from Detroit 
and stay with him. 



    
 

 
  

 

    
      

   
     

   
    

 
     

    
    

   
      

       
  

     
   

   
 

       
   

     
   

  
      

    
   

      

About the orchestra, Hindemith had less kind words: 

…The Orchestra is as stupid as a crowd of puppies, the people forget from 
one minute to the next and cannot concentrate. The strings, up to the solo 
violist, are without exception bad, the brass is good. 

Cameron Baird’s vision for the musical culture of Buffalo included the 
creation of a strong school of music. In an attempt to fulfill that goal 
Baird invited Paul Hindemith to come to Buffalo in 1940 to teach music 
classes at the University of Buffalo. He also hoped to entice Hindemith 
to stay in Buffalo to create a school of music at the University. But that 
was only a small part of the story. 

By 1940 Paul Hindemith was basically an exile from Germany living in 
Switzerland. Nazi bans on performances of his music and his 
employment as a performer or teacher seriously limited his income. 
Although Hindemith did not seem terribly concerned about his plight, 
his friends in the United States and elsewhere were worried enough to 
make their own plans to help him escape Europe. These people 
included Cameron Baird, composer Nicolas Nabokov, and Hindemith‘s 
manager in America, Ernst R. Voigt, who was president of Associated 
Music Publishers (representatives for Hindemith’s publisher, Schott 
Music) in New York. 

It appears that Ernst Voigt served as ringmaster for the efforts to 
secure enough engagements in the United States to convince 
Hindemith it was worth his time and effort to leave Europe. More 
daunting was the need to provide documentation to United States 
immigration officials that substantiated Hindemith’s application for a 
visa. They needed to document his qualifications as a professor of 
music, justify the need for his services, and prove that he had 
commitments from employers to provide an income sufficient to 
support him while in the country. Voigt collaborated with Nabokov at 



     
     

     
     

   
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

      
 

Wells College, Baird at the University of Buffalo, and Paul J. Weaver at 
Cornell University to insure that Hindemith’s appointments, combined 
with his teaching position at Tanglewood (Koussevitsky had invited him 
to teach composition at the inaugural summer 1940 session of the 
Berkshire Music Center), would fulfill the requirements of the 
immigration officials. 

Announcement of Hindemith’s appointment to teach at the University of Buffalo 
in the University’s Alumni Publication February 1 1940. 

The following timeline presents some of the major events that created 
a perilous situation for Hindemith in Europe. 



  

   
  

 
  

     
 

  
   
   

 
  

  
 

  
    

  
 

  
  

 
  

        
     

 
   

   
 

 
   

     
 

 
   

       
  

 
  

 
 

  
  

 

1933 April 

The National Socialist Party banned performances of much of Hindemith’s music because it 
manifested “cultural Bolshevism”. 

1936 October 
The Nazis extended the ban to all of Hindemith’s music. 

1937 March 
Hindemith resigned his position at the Berlin Hochschule. 
Hindemith made his first visit to the United States, including a concert in Buffalo, New York. 

1938 February to April 
Hindemith made his second visit to the United States. 

1938 May 
Hindemith was included among the “degenerate” composers listed in the Entartete Musik 
exhibition in Düsseldorf. 

1938 September 
Hindemith left Germany to live in Switzerland. 

1939 
Hindemith made a third visit to the United States, including time spent at Wells College in 
Aurora, NY where composer Nicolas Nabokov was chair of the music department. 

1939 September 1 
Germany invaded Poland. 

1939 
Serge Koussevitsky, conductor of the Boston Symphony, invited Hindemith to join Aaron 
Copland as the first composition teachers for the new Berkshire Music Center (now the 
Tanglewood Music Center). 

1939 November 
Ernst R. Voigt wrote to Hindemith about a teaching job at a university (UB) to precede the 
position at Tanglewood in the summer of 1940. 

1940 February 
Hindemith arrived in Buffalo. 

1946 January 
Hindemith became an American citizen. 



    
  

 

 
   

 

 
 

 
   

  
        

      
       

  
   
   

       
    

 

     
  

      
       

  
 

     
  

    

Ernst Voigt wrote to Nabokov about Hindemith’s appointment at the 
University of Buffalo: 

The professorship offered him at the university is in the nature of pretense 
… as Mr. Baird is subscribing the amount of his salary. He will only be asked 
to give two lessons or lectures a week, the rest of the time to be his own, 
the principal purpose being to discuss and to set under way the plans for 
the founding of the new conservatory in the fall … It would of course be a 
wonderful opportunity for Hindemith, as he would be sole director, 
untrammeled by traditions and policies he might have to contend with 
were he to take over the directorship of an old school. 

University at Buffalo records (the minutes of the Committee on 
General Administration) corroborate Voigt’s statement. Baird paid 
Hindemith’s salary of $1500 from his own pocket. Hindemith was never 
on the University’s payroll and it does not appear that he taught any of 
his classes on campus facilities. He was to spend about 14 hours a week 
teaching two courses in Buffalo each Wednesday, including a “general” 
course for non-musicians that he stated had an enrollment of 40-50 
people. He also held other classes for professional musicians and 
teachers in the Buffalo area. Organists Robert Noehren and Herbert 
Fromm were among the professional musicians who attended classes. 

Hindemith also traveled to Aurora, New York to teach one day a week, 
providing six lectures on Tuesday evenings, March 19-April 30 at the 
Wells College for Women. His trips to Aurora were combined with trips 
to Cornell University in Ithaca, New York to lecture on Tuesday 
afternoons at 4 p.m. 

In the midst of this schedule Yale University hired Hindemith to give 
lectures and master classes on three consecutive Saturdays and 
Mondays between March 30 and April 15 1940. Hindemith was invited 



     
  

 

    
    

  
     

      
    

    
 

 
   

    
  

  
 

      
   

      
     

   
 

 
 

     
  

 

to join the faculty at Yale beginning in 1941. He taught at Yale until his 
retirement in 1953. 

After only a couple of weeks in Buffalo, Paul Hindemith wrote to his 
wife on March 7 1940 that it seemed unlikely he would stay in Buffalo 
to assist Cameron Baird with the creation of a music department at the 
University. Whether this plan was completely a pretense for Hindemith 
to come to Buffalo or if Baird abandoned the idea after seeing 
Hindemith’s response to Buffalo is unclear. It would be another dozen 
years before a music department was established at the University of 
Buffalo. 

…Nothing has been said about school plans, and I don’t think anything will 
come of it. I’m glad of that, for, were I forced to become director of this 
school, I can already visualize the classroom in which, after a few years of 
working here, I should hang myself. 

Dr. Max Landsberger was one of the musical amateurs who enrolled in 
Hindemith’s classes. In 1966 Dr. Landsberger wrote a recollection of the 
experience. It includes a transcription of a fugue subject (see page 3) 
Hindemith wrote on the board during a classroom session. Dr. 
Landsberger’s recollection was published in the Buffalo News April 6 
1980. 

Both of the Landsberger documents were provided courtesy of the University Archives at the 
University at Buffalo. 



 



 



 

 



 
 

 



 
 



 
 

 



 



 

 



 
 

  
 

 

      
       

      
      

      
   

  
 

     
     

     
  

  
       
   

  
 

Aaron Copland 
Photograph by Carl Van Vechten 

Yvar Mikhashoff Collection YM01-03 

Cameron Baird stated that it took three months of negotiation and 
cajoling to convince Aaron Copland to accept the offer to become the 
first composer appointed Slee Lecturer in Music beginning in 1957. The 
appointment was announced in the Buffalo News on January 23 1957. 
The announcement was met with protests from some local citizens who 
denounced Copland’s appointment based on assertions that he had 
been associated with numerous Communist organizations. 

Copland’s political thinking and sentiments have been the subject of 
research in the years since this event took place. While it has never 
been determined that Copland was a member of the Communist Party, 
there is documentation that demonstrates Copland’s sympathies for 
liberal programs and actions that were held in common with items on 
the Communist agenda. These were enough to draw the attention of 
the media and authorities in a time of near hysteria about Communist 
infiltration and influence in the United States. 



      
 

 
 

 
     

   
       

   
 
 

   
           

    
   

      
    

     
     

    
 

Here is a timeline of some of the background for the accusations about 
Aaron Copland’s involvement with Communism. 

1949 March 25-27 
Copland acted as a sponsor for and attended the Cultural and Scientific 
Conference for World Peace at the Waldorf-Astoria Hotel in New York 
City. Unbeknownst to many of the participants, the event was arranged 
by the Communist Party of the United States. 

1949 April 4 
Life magazine (v. 26, n. 14: p. 39-43) ran an article, “Red visitors cause 
rumpus”, that denounced the Conference and included a list of its 
sponsors under the heading “Dupes and fellow travelers dress up 
Communist fronts”. Although Life was careful to state that many of the 
people listed might have been innocent of any association with 
communism it still provided their names and photos, including Leonard 
Bernstein, Marc Blitzstein, Aaron Copland, Olin Downes, Morton Gould, 
Alan Lomax, Wallingford Riegger, Paul Robeson, and Artur Schnabel. 

http://www.keywiki.org/Leonard_Bernstein
http://www.keywiki.org/Leonard_Bernstein
http://www.keywiki.org/Marc_Blitzstein
http://www.keywiki.org/Aaron_Copland
http://www.keywiki.org/Olin_Downes
http://www.keywiki.org/Morton_Gould
http://www.keywiki.org/Alan_Lomax
http://www.keywiki.org/Wallingford_Riegger
http://www.keywiki.org/Paul_Robeson
http://www.keywiki.org/Artur_Schnabel


 



 



 



 
       

        
      

     
   

 

 
 

 
       

    
     

1950 June 22 
The journal Counterattack issued a supplement titled Red Channels: The 
Report of Communist Influence in Radio and Television. It named 151 
people working in the entertainment fields who allegedly had ties to 
communist organizations or causes. Copland was named (p. 39-41) with 
a list of 21 instances of affiliations. 

1953 January 3 
Representative Fred E. Busbey of Illinois spoke on the floor of the 
United States Congress to protest the scheduling of a performance of 
Aaron Copland’s A Lincoln Portrait at the January 18th National 



     
    

 
 

 
      

    
     

    
    

     
  

 

                                                           
                                                                  
                                                                        
                                                                         
 

 
     

   
    

     
     

Symphony concert preceding the presidential inauguration of Dwight D. 
Eisenhower on January 20th . The work was withdrawn from the 
program. 

1953 April 
Senator Joseph McCarthy convinced the State Department to ban the 
distribution of recordings of music by composers who had been 
subjected to any sort of derogatory allegations, substantiated or not. 
The recordings were normally distributed to 196 official American 
libraries around the world. The ban included music by George 
Gershwin, Roger Sessions, Randall Thompson, Roy Harris, Virgil 
Thomson, Leonard Bernstein, and Aaron Copland. 

Leonard Bernstein     Virgil Thomson 
Perry Collection C53_003  Perry Collection C17_014 
Unidentified photographer   Unidentified photographer 

1953 May 26 
Copland testified before Senators Joseph McCarthy, Karl Mundt, and 
John McClellan of the Senate’s Permanent Subcommittee on 
Investigations. One of McCarthy’s concerns at the time was with 
Americans who had been selected to serve as government-sponsored 
lecturers abroad. Copland went to Latin America in 1941 and 1947, and 



       
  

 

   
  

 

 

  

 
            
 

  
 
        

  
     

 
  

 
      
 

  
 
          
 

  
 
            
 

     
   

 
           
 
 

    
   
 

 
           

to Italy in 1951 as a lecturer on music under the auspices of the State 
Department. 

Excerpts from the Testimony of Aaron Copland before the Senate Permanent 
Subcommittee on Investigations, May 26 1953. The entire testimony is available 
online at http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CPRT-107SPRT83870/pdf/CPRT-107SPRT83870.pdf 

The Chairman. Now, Mr. Copland, have you ever been a Communist? 

Mr. Copland. No, I have not been a Communist in the past and I am not now a Communist. 

The Chairman. Have you ever been a Communist sympathizer? 

Mr. Copland. I am not sure that I would be able to say what you mean by the word 
``sympathizer.'' From my impression of it I have never thought of myself as a Communist 
sympathizer. 

The Chairman. You did not. 

Mr. Copland. I did not.   

The Chairman. Did you ever attend any Communist meetings? 

Mr. Copland. I never attended any specific Communist party function of any kind. 

The Chairman. Did you ever attend a Communist meeting? 

Mr. Copland. I am afraid I don't know how you define a Communist meeting. 

The Chairman. A meeting you knew then or now had been called by the Communist party and 
sponsored by the Communist party. 

Mr. Copland. Not that I would know of. No. 

The Chairman. I know that every man has a different type of memory, so we can't ask you to 
evaluate your memory. Would it seem logical that were you asked to join the Communist party, 
you would remember? 

Mr. Copland. If I had been asked to? Not unless it had some significance in my mind. 

http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CPRT-107SPRT83870/pdf/CPRT-107SPRT83870.pdf


 
   

  
 
        
 

  
 
         
 

 
 
           
 

      
  

   
   

      
   
     

     
  

 
      

       
   

   
     

 
 

   
 

 
       

        
 

    
 

 
  

     
   

 

The Chairman. So your answer at this time is that you can't say definitely whether you have 
been asked to join the Communist party or not? 

Mr. Copland. No. 

The Chairman. Are any of your close friends Communists? 

Mr. Copland. Not to my knowledge. 

The Chairman. Do you know any members of the Communist party who are Communists? 

Mr. Copland. I don't know any member of the Communist party, as far as I know. 

The Chairman. I may say one of the reasons you are here today is because of the part you 
played in the exchange program lecturing, etc., and you have a public record of association with 
organizations officially listed by the attorney general. As the Communist party record is 
extremely long, I think counsel will want to ask you some questions on that. May I give you 
some advice? You have a lawyer here. There are witnesses who come before this committee 
and often indulge in the assumption that they can avoid giving us the facts. Those who 
underestimate the work the staff has done in the past end up occasionally before a grand jury 
for perjury, so I suggest when counsel questions you about these matters that you tell the truth 
or take advantage of the Fifth Amendment. 

Mr. Copland. Senator McCarthy, I would like to say now, I received a telegram to be here 
Friday. The telegram gave me no hint as to why I was coming. If I am to be questioned on 
affiliations over a period of many years it is practically impossible without some kind of 
preparation to be able to answer definitely one way or another when I was and what I was 
connected with. This comes as a complete surprise. 

The Chairman. May I rephrase that, Roy. Did you feel at that time we should declare war on 
Finland? 

Mr. Copland. Senator McCarthy, I am in no position--I spend my days writing symphonies, 
concertos, ballads, and I am not a political thinker. My relation has been extremely tangent. 

The Chairman. We want to know whether you signed this letter to the president urging that we 
declare war on Finland--whether you are a musician or not. We now find that you are lecturing 
with the stamp of approval of the United States government and we would like to check on 
these things. This is one small item. There is a long record of apparent Communist activities. 
Now you say you don't remember signing the letter.   Just to refresh your memory, may I ask, 
did you feel at the time the letter was signed by you that we should declare war on Finland? 



       
    

      
 
 

    
 
     
 

  
 
         
 

 
 
         
 

     
 

 
      

   
      

 
      

 
   

 
 
             
 

 
 
         
 
 
 

    
  

 
      

  
 

Mr. Copland. I would say the thought would be extremely uncharacteristic of me. I have 
never thought that the declaration of war would solve, in my opinion, serious problems. I would 
say I was a man of hope for a peaceful solution. 

The Chairman. Did you sign a petition to the attorney general in behalf of Hanns Eisler? 

Mr. Copland. I may have.    

The Chairman. Do you recall whether you did or not? 

Mr. Copland. Not positively, no. 

The Chairman. Did you know Hanns Eisler had been named as a Communist agent at that time? 

Mr. Copland. No, I didn't. 

The Chairman. When did you first learn that Hanns Eisler had been named as a Communist 
agent? 

Mr. Copland. I never heard that he had been named as a Communist agent. I never heard 
that he had been named. I knew that he had a reputation in Germany in the twenties of having 
been a Communist, but I understood that was in the past and since his arrival in America and 
the Rockefeller grant of $20,000, it was my impression that the Communist element in him was 
in the past. 

The Chairman. Did you feel that you knew enough about the Hanns Eisler case to petition the 
attorney general in his behalf? 

Mr. Copland. I would have to study what the petition was and think about the problem. 

The Chairman. Were you well-acquainted with Hanns Eisler? 

Mr. Copland. No. 

The Chairman. Do you feel now that your name was misused by various organizations or do you 
want further time to check into it? 

Mr. Copland. I would like further time to check into it. It is also well known that if they got 
your name in connection with one thing, they didn't hesitate to use it in connection with 
another. I would also like to say that my connection, insofar as it would show, was the direct 



  
       

    
        

 
 
         

   
    

 
 
      

   
   

    
 
       

      
 

   
  

 
       

 
   

    
 
            
 

  
 
         
 

  
 
           
 

 
 
         
 

  
  

 

outcome of the feelings of a musician. I was not moved by the Communist element, whatever it 
may have been. I was moved by specific causes to which I lent my name. Musicians make music 
out of feelings aroused out of public events. 

Senator Mundt. I can't follow this line of argument. I don't see how that line of reasoning 
makes sense with a hatchet man like Bridges. 

Mr. Copland. A musician, when he writes his notes he makes his music out of emotions and 
you can't make your music unless you are moved by events. If I sponsored a committee in 
relation to Bridges, I may have been misled, not through Communist leanings. If I had them, 
there was something about his situation that moved me. 

Senator Mundt. That would be true of anybody--any human beings, I think, not only 
musicians. Emotions are part of everyone's personality. That certainly stretches a point. We are 
all governed by the same rules of caution. When you get to Browder and Bridges, I think 
musicians have to go by the same code as governs other citizens. 

Mr. Copland. We are assuming--I would like to see what it was I was supposed to have 
signed. I would have to know the circumstances to make any kind of sensible case. 

The Chairman. Do you say now that your activities as a musician had to do with your 
connection with Bridges and Browder? 

Mr. Copland. I would say that anything I signed was because of the human cause behind it 
that interested me— 

The Chairman. Were you a good friend of Hanns Eisler? 

Mr. Copland. No, I knew him slightly. I was not a good friend of his. 

The Chairman. Did you meet him socially? 

Mr. Copland. Yes. 

The Chairman. Roughly, how many times? 

Mr. Copland. Roughly, this is a guess, two or three times. 

The Chairman. When did you last see him? 

Mr. Copland. My impression is I last saw him in California. 

The Chairman. Did you agree with the statement by Eisler that ``Revolutionary music is now 
more powerful than ever. Its political and artistic importance is growing daily.'' 



         
     

 
  

 
      

     
        

 
 

 
 
          
 

   
  

 
   

 
 

         
 

  
 
       

     
 
 

   

 
   

    

  
  

 
   

 

Mr. Copland. That is a vague statement. I don't know what he means by ``revolutionary 
music.'' 

The Chairman. Do you agree with him that there is a political importance in music? 

Mr. Copland. I certainly would not. What the Soviet government has been trying to do in 
forcing their composers to write along lines favorable to themselves is absolutely wrong. It is 
one of the basic reasons why I could have no sympathy with such an attitude. 

The Chairman. Would you say a good musician who is a Communist could be important in 
influencing people in favor of the Communist cause? 

Mr. Copland. Perhaps in some indirect way. 

The Chairman. One final question.  Quoting Hanns Eisler, is this a correct description of you by 
Eisler: 

I am extremely pleased to report a considerable shift to the left among the American 
artistic intelligentsia. I don't think it would be an exaggeration to state that the best 
people in the musical world of America (with very few exceptions) share at present 
extremely progressive ideas.  Their names? They are Aaron Copland. 

Would you say that is a correct description of you? 

Mr. Copland. No, I would not. I would say he is using knowledge of my liberal feelings in the 
arts and in general to typify me as a help to his own cause. 

Aaron Copland issued the following press release after the hearing: 

On late Friday afternoon, I received a telegram from the Senate Permanent 
Subcommittee on Investigations to appear as a witness. I did. I answered to 
the best of my ability all of the questions which were asked me. I testified 
under oath that I have never supported, and am now opposed to, the 
limitations put on freedom by the Soviet Union. . . . My relationships with 
the United States Government were originally with the Music Advisory 
Committee to the Coordinator of Inter American Affairs and later as a 
lecturer in music in South America and as a Fulbright Professor. In these 
capacities my work was limited to the technical aspects of music.'' 



  
 

     
     
   
    

  
   

  
 

 
     

    
       

  
 

 
 

  
     

 

Later in 1953 

Copland’s scheduled appearances at the University of Alabama and the 
University of Colorado were canceled. The Los Angeles Chamber 
Symphony revoked an agreement for Copland to appear with them as 
conductor. Copland continued to be investigated by the FBI, especially 
after an unnamed informant claimed Copland was a member of the 
Communist Party. This claim was dismissed by the government 
November 30 1955. 

1954 September 
A study about the blacklisting that was occurring in the entertainment 
industries was initiated by The Fund for the Republic as an examination 
of the effects of the publication of Red Channels. The Report on 
Blacklisting was written by John Cogley and published in 1956. 

1957 October 10 
Copland presented the first of his four lecture-recitals at the University 
of Buffalo. 



 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Aaron Copland 
Unidentified photographer, distributed by Boosey & Hawkes 

Music Department Collection MD02_011 



 



 
 
 
 
 
 

       
    

     
 

   
          

   

The documents on the following pages show a sequence of documents 
that were written as a result of Aaron Copland’s appointment as Slee 
Lecturer of Music at the University of Buffalo (as it was called prior to 
becoming University at Buffalo when it joined the State University of 
New York system). It includes two letters by Cameron Baird standing 
firm in the face of the protests and a letter by Aaron Copland to 
Cameron Baird in which he offers a brief history of the issues. 
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	Cameron Baird was committed to building an exceptional musical culture in the city of Buffalo. He founded the Buffalo Oratorio Chorus in 1930, conducted the Buffalo Schola Cantorum for ten years beginning in 1945, worked with Frederick Slee, Samuel Capen, and others to establish the Buffalo Philharmonic Orchestra in 1934 (with the first concert season being 1935-36), continued working with the Philharmonic with input and influence on matters including hiring musical directors Lajos Shuk, Franco Autori, Will
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	This exhibit is about Cameron Baird’s efforts to bring two of the world’s most notable composers to the University of Buffalo, Paul Hindemith and Aaron Copland. The stories demonstrate the range of Baird’s reach in the musical world at the time and provide a measure of his humanitarianism and courage in the face of political factors beyond the world of music.  
	 
	During the early 1930s Cameron Baird took breaks from his position in the administration of the Buffalo Pipe and Foundry Company to travel to Europe to study music.  He studied conducting with Bruno Walter and Felix Weingarten in Salzburg, Austria and applied to study composition with Paul Hindemith at the Berlin Hochschule für Musik. The contacts he made with musicians during these trips would prove highly valuable to him back in Buffalo.  
	 
	 
	 
	      Bruno Walter 
	  Photograph by Susan Hoeller Perry Collection C18_038 
	 
	It was quite likely Baird’s contact with Hindemith in Berlin that laid the groundwork for Hindemith to appear with the Buffalo Philharmonic Orchestra during his first visit to the United States. Hindemith conducted his Symphony ‘Mathis der Maler’ and performed as viola soloist in his Der Schwanendreher with the Orchestra on its April 23 1937 program.  
	 
	 
	 
	Paul Hindemith 
	Photograph by Rudolf Hindemith 
	Perry Collection C07_021 
	 
	While in Buffalo for the 1937 performance with the Buffalo Philharmonic Orchestra, Hindemith expressed his feelings about Cameron Baird in a letter to his wife Gertrud April 22 1937: 
	 
	[…] Heart and soul of musical affairs is the young vice-director of an iron pipe foundry, Cameron Baird. My musical grandchild, for during the time when business was bad in America he travelled to Berlin to study music; he came to me and I directed him to [Harald] Genzmer, who gave him lessons and later passed him on to [Bernhard] Heiden – to the latter’s good fortune, for the kindhearted Baird was a great help to the Heidens when they moved to America. Today, too, he got them to come up from Detroit and st
	 
	 
	 
	About the orchestra, Hindemith had less kind words: 
	 
	…The Orchestra is as stupid as a crowd of puppies, the people forget from one minute to the next and cannot concentrate. The strings, up to the solo violist, are without exception bad, the brass is good.  
	 
	Cameron Baird’s vision for the musical culture of Buffalo included the creation of a strong school of music. In an attempt to fulfill that goal Baird invited Paul Hindemith to come to Buffalo in 1940 to teach music classes at the University of Buffalo. He also hoped to entice Hindemith to stay in Buffalo to create a school of music at the University. But that was only a small part of the story.  
	 
	By 1940 Paul Hindemith was basically an exile from Germany living in Switzerland. Nazi bans on performances of his music and his employment as a performer or teacher seriously limited his income. Although Hindemith did not seem terribly concerned about his plight, his friends in the United States and elsewhere were worried enough to make their own plans to help him escape Europe. These people included Cameron Baird, composer Nicolas Nabokov, and Hindemith‘s manager in America, Ernst R. Voigt, who was presid
	 
	It appears that Ernst Voigt served as ringmaster for the efforts to secure enough engagements in the United States to convince Hindemith it was worth his time and effort to leave Europe. More daunting was the need to provide documentation to United States immigration officials that substantiated Hindemith’s application for a visa. They needed to document his qualifications as a professor of music, justify the need for his services, and prove that he had commitments from employers to provide an income suffic
	 
	Announcement of Hindemith’s appointment to teach at the University of Buffalo in the University’s Alumni Publication February 1 1940. 
	 
	 
	 
	The following timeline presents some of the major events that created a perilous situation for Hindemith in Europe.
	1933 April 
	The National Socialist Party banned performances of much of Hindemith’s music because it manifested “cultural Bolshevism”. 
	 
	1936 October 
	The Nazis extended the ban to all of Hindemith’s music. 
	 
	1937 March 
	Hindemith resigned his position at the Berlin Hochschule. 
	Hindemith made his first visit to the United States, including a concert in Buffalo, New York. 
	 
	1938 February to April 
	Hindemith made his second visit to the United States. 
	 
	1938 May  
	Hindemith was included among the “degenerate” composers listed in the Entartete Musik exhibition in Düsseldorf. 
	 
	1938 September 
	Hindemith left Germany to live in Switzerland. 
	 
	1939  
	Hindemith made a third visit to the United States, including time spent at Wells College in Aurora, NY where composer Nicolas Nabokov was chair of the music department. 
	 
	1939 September 1  
	Germany invaded Poland. 
	 
	1939 
	Serge Koussevitsky, conductor of the Boston Symphony, invited Hindemith to join Aaron Copland as the first composition teachers for the new Berkshire Music Center (now the Tanglewood Music Center). 
	 
	1939 November  
	Ernst R. Voigt wrote to Hindemith about a teaching job at a university (UB) to precede the position at Tanglewood in the summer of 1940. 
	 
	1940 February 
	Hindemith arrived in Buffalo. 
	 
	1946 January 
	Hindemith became an American citizen. 
	 
	Ernst Voigt wrote to Nabokov about Hindemith’s appointment at the University of Buffalo: 
	 
	The professorship offered him at the university is in the nature of pretense … as Mr. Baird is subscribing the amount of his salary. He will only be asked to give two lessons or lectures a week, the rest of the time to be his own, the principal purpose being to discuss and to set under way the plans for the founding of the new conservatory in the fall … It would of course be a wonderful opportunity for Hindemith, as he would be sole director, untrammeled by traditions and policies he might have to contend w
	 
	University at Buffalo records (the minutes of the Committee on General Administration) corroborate Voigt’s statement. Baird paid Hindemith’s salary of $1500 from his own pocket. Hindemith was never on the University’s payroll and it does not appear that he taught any of his classes on campus facilities. He was to spend about 14 hours a week teaching two courses in Buffalo each Wednesday, including a “general” course for non-musicians that he stated had an enrollment of 40-50 people. He also held other class
	 
	Hindemith also traveled to Aurora, New York to teach one day a week, providing six lectures on Tuesday evenings, March 19-April 30 at the Wells College for Women. His trips to Aurora were combined with trips to Cornell University in Ithaca, New York to lecture on Tuesday afternoons at 4 p.m.  
	 
	In the midst of this schedule Yale University hired Hindemith to give lectures and master classes on three consecutive Saturdays and Mondays between March 30 and April 15 1940. Hindemith was invited 
	to join the faculty at Yale beginning in 1941. He taught at Yale until his retirement in 1953. 
	 
	After only a couple of weeks in Buffalo, Paul Hindemith wrote to his wife on March 7 1940 that it seemed unlikely he would stay in Buffalo to assist Cameron Baird with the creation of a music department at the University. Whether this plan was completely a pretense for Hindemith to come to Buffalo or if Baird abandoned the idea after seeing Hindemith’s response to Buffalo is unclear. It would be another dozen years before a music department was established at the University of Buffalo. 
	 
	…Nothing has been said about school plans, and I don’t think anything will come of it. I’m glad of that, for, were I forced to become director of this school, I can already visualize the classroom in which, after a few years of working here, I should hang myself. 
	 
	Dr. Max Landsberger was one of the musical amateurs who enrolled in Hindemith’s classes. In 1966 Dr. Landsberger wrote a recollection of the experience. It includes a transcription of a fugue subject (see page 3) Hindemith wrote on the board during a classroom session. Dr. Landsberger’s recollection was published in the Buffalo News April 6 1980. 
	 
	 
	Both of the Landsberger documents were provided courtesy of the University Archives at the University at Buffalo. 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Aaron Copland 
	Photograph by Carl Van Vechten 
	Yvar Mikhashoff Collection YM01-03 
	 
	Cameron Baird stated that it took three months of negotiation and cajoling to convince Aaron Copland to accept the offer to become the first composer appointed Slee Lecturer in Music beginning in 1957. The appointment was announced in the Buffalo News on January 23 1957. The announcement was met with protests from some local citizens who denounced Copland’s appointment based on assertions that he had been associated with numerous Communist organizations. 
	 
	Copland’s political thinking and sentiments have been the subject of research in the years since this event took place. While it has never been determined that Copland was a member of the Communist Party, there is documentation that demonstrates Copland’s sympathies for liberal programs and actions that were held in common with items on the Communist agenda. These were enough to draw the attention of the media and authorities in a time of near hysteria about Communist infiltration and influence in the Unite
	 
	Here is a timeline of some of the background for the accusations about Aaron Copland’s involvement with Communism. 
	 
	 
	1949 March 25-27 Copland acted as a sponsor for and attended the Cultural and Scientific Conference for World Peace at the Waldorf-Astoria Hotel in New York City. Unbeknownst to many of the participants, the event was arranged by the Communist Party of the United States. 
	 
	 
	1949 April 4  
	Life magazine (v. 26, n. 14: p. 39-43)  ran an article, “Red visitors cause rumpus”, that denounced the Conference and included a list of its sponsors under the heading “Dupes and fellow travelers dress up Communist fronts”.  Although Life was careful to state that many of the people listed might have been innocent of any association with communism it still provided their names and photos, including , , , , , , , , and . 
	Leonard Bernstein
	Marc Blitzstein
	Aaron Copland
	Olin Downes
	Morton Gould
	Alan Lomax
	Wallingford Riegger
	Paul Robeson
	Artur Schnabel

	 
	 
	 
	 
	1950 June 22 
	The journal Counterattack issued a supplement titled Red Channels: The Report of Communist Influence in Radio and Television. It named 151 people working in the entertainment fields who allegedly had ties to communist organizations or causes. Copland was named (p. 39-41) with a list of 21 instances of affiliations. 
	 
	 
	 
	1953 January 3 
	Representative Fred E. Busbey of Illinois spoke on the floor of the United States Congress to protest the scheduling of a performance of Aaron Copland’s A Lincoln Portrait at the January 18 National Symphony concert preceding the presidential inauguration of Dwight D. Eisenhower on January 20Symphony concert preceding the presidential inauguration of Dwight D. Eisenhower on January 20Symphony concert preceding the presidential inauguration of Dwight D. Eisenhower on January 20
	th

	 
	1953 April 
	Senator Joseph McCarthy convinced the State Department to ban the distribution of recordings of music by composers who had been subjected to any sort of derogatory allegations, substantiated or not. The recordings were normally distributed to 196 official American libraries around the world. The ban included music by George Gershwin, Roger Sessions, Randall Thompson, Roy Harris, Virgil Thomson, Leonard Bernstein, and Aaron Copland. 
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	1953 May 26 
	Copland testified before Senators Joseph McCarthy, Karl Mundt, and John McClellan of the Senate’s Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations. One of McCarthy’s concerns at the time was with Americans who had been selected to serve as government-sponsored lecturers abroad. Copland went to Latin America in 1941 and 1947, and to Italy in 1951 as a lecturer on music under the auspices of the State Department.  
	 
	Excerpts from the Testimony of Aaron Copland before the Senate Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations, May 26 1953. The entire testimony is available online at  
	http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CPRT-107SPRT83870/pdf/CPRT-107SPRT83870.pdf

	 
	The Chairman. Now, Mr. Copland, have you ever been a Communist? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. No, I have not been a Communist in the past and I am not now a Communist.     
	 
	The Chairman. Have you ever been a Communist sympathizer? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. I am not sure that I would be able to say what you mean by the word ``sympathizer.'' From my impression of it I have never thought of myself as a Communist sympathizer.     
	 
	The Chairman. You did not. 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. I did not.     
	 
	The Chairman. Did you ever attend any Communist meetings? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. I never attended any specific Communist party function of any kind.     
	 
	The Chairman. Did you ever attend a Communist meeting? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. I am afraid I don't know how you define a Communist meeting.     
	 
	The Chairman. A meeting you knew then or now had been called by the Communist party and sponsored by the Communist party. 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. Not that I would know of. No.     
	 
	 
	The Chairman. I know that every man has a different type of memory, so we can't ask you to evaluate your memory. Would it seem logical that were you asked to join the Communist party, you would remember? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. If I had been asked to? Not unless it had some significance in my mind.     
	 
	The Chairman. So your answer at this time is that you can't say definitely whether you have been asked to join the Communist party or not? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. No.     
	 
	The Chairman. Are any of your close friends Communists? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. Not to my knowledge.     
	 
	The Chairman. Do you know any members of the Communist party who are Communists? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. I don't know any member of the Communist party, as far as I know.     
	 
	The Chairman. I may say one of the reasons you are here today is because of the part you played in the exchange program lecturing, etc., and you have a public record of association with organizations officially listed by the attorney general. As the Communist party record is extremely long, I think counsel will want to ask you some questions on that.  May I give you some advice? You have a lawyer here. There are witnesses who come before this committee and often indulge in the assumption that they can avoid
	 
	    Mr. Copland. Senator McCarthy, I would like to say now, I received a telegram to be here Friday. The telegram gave me no hint as to why I was coming. If I am to be questioned on affiliations over a period of many years it is practically impossible without some kind of preparation to be able to answer definitely one way or another when I was and what I was connected with. This comes as a complete surprise.     
	 
	 
	The Chairman. May I rephrase that, Roy. Did you feel at that time we should declare war on Finland? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. Senator McCarthy, I am in no position--I spend my days writing symphonies, concertos, ballads, and I am not a political thinker. My relation has been extremely tangent.     
	 
	The Chairman. We want to know whether you signed this letter to the president urging that we declare war on Finland--whether you are a musician or not. We now find that you are lecturing with the stamp of approval of the United States government and we would like to check on these things. This is one small item. There is a long record of apparent Communist activities. Now you say you don't remember signing the letter.    Just to refresh your memory, may I ask, did you feel at the time the letter was signed 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. I would say the thought would be extremely uncharacteristic of me. I have never thought that the declaration of war would solve, in my opinion, serious problems. I would say I was a man of hope for a peaceful solution.     
	 
	 
	The Chairman. Did you sign a petition to the attorney general in behalf of Hanns Eisler? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. I may have.     
	 
	The Chairman. Do you recall whether you did or not? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. Not positively, no.     
	 
	The Chairman. Did you know Hanns Eisler had been named as a Communist agent at that time? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. No, I didn't.     
	 
	The Chairman. When did you first learn that Hanns Eisler had been named as a Communist agent? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. I never heard that he had been named as a Communist agent. I never heard that he had been named. I knew that he had a reputation in Germany in the twenties of having been a Communist, but I understood that was in the past and since his arrival in America and the Rockefeller grant of $20,000, it was my impression that the Communist element in him was in the past.     
	 
	The Chairman. Did you feel that you knew enough about the Hanns Eisler case to petition the attorney general in his behalf? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. I would have to study what the petition was and think about the problem.     
	 
	The Chairman. Were you well-acquainted with Hanns Eisler? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. No.     
	 
	 
	 
	The Chairman. Do you feel now that your name was misused by various organizations or do you want further time to check into it? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. I would like further time to check into it. It is also well known that if they got your name in connection with one thing, they didn't hesitate to use it in connection with another. I would also like to say that my connection, insofar as it would show, was the direct 
	outcome of the feelings of a musician. I was not moved by the Communist element, whatever it may have been. I was moved by specific causes to which I lent my name. Musicians make music out of feelings aroused out of public events. 
	    Senator Mundt. I can't follow this line of argument. I don't see how that line of reasoning makes sense with a hatchet man like Bridges. 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. A musician, when he writes his notes he makes his music out of emotions and you can't make your music unless you are moved by events. If I sponsored a committee in relation to Bridges, I may have been misled, not through Communist leanings. If I had them, there was something about his situation that moved me. 
	 
	    Senator Mundt. That would be true of anybody--any human beings, I think, not only musicians. Emotions are part of everyone's personality. That certainly stretches a point. We are all governed by the same rules of caution. When you get to Browder and Bridges, I think musicians have to go by the same code as governs other citizens. 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. We are assuming--I would like to see what it was I was supposed to have signed. I would have to know the circumstances to make any kind of sensible case.     
	 
	The Chairman. Do you say now that your activities as a musician had to do with your connection with Bridges and Browder? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. I would say that anything I signed was because of the human cause behind it that interested me— 
	   
	The Chairman. Were you a good friend of Hanns Eisler? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. No, I knew him slightly. I was not a good friend of his.     
	 
	The Chairman. Did you meet him socially? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. Yes.     
	 
	The Chairman. Roughly, how many times? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. Roughly, this is a guess, two or three times.     
	 
	The Chairman. When did you last see him? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. My impression is I last saw him in California.     
	 
	The Chairman. Did you agree with the statement by Eisler that ``Revolutionary music is now more powerful than ever. Its political and artistic importance is growing daily.'' 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. That is a vague statement. I don't know what he means by ``revolutionary music.''     
	 
	The Chairman. Do you agree with him that there is a political importance in music? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. I certainly would not. What the Soviet government has been trying to do in forcing their composers to write along lines favorable to themselves is absolutely wrong. It is one of the basic reasons why I could have no sympathy with such an attitude.     
	 
	The Chairman. Would you say a good musician who is a Communist could be important in influencing people in favor of the Communist cause? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. Perhaps in some indirect way.     
	 
	The Chairman. One final question.  Quoting Hanns Eisler, is this a correct description of you by Eisler:  
	 
	I am extremely pleased to report a considerable shift to the left among the American artistic intelligentsia. I don't think it would be an exaggeration to state that the best people in the musical world of America (with very few exceptions) share at present extremely progressive ideas.    Their names? They are Aaron Copland.     
	 
	Would you say that is a correct description of you? 
	 
	    Mr. Copland. No, I would not. I would say he is using knowledge of my liberal feelings in the arts and in general to typify me as a help to his own cause.     
	 
	 
	Aaron Copland issued the following press release after the hearing: 
	On late Friday afternoon, I received a telegram from the Senate Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations to appear as a witness. I did. I answered to the best of my ability all of the questions which were asked me. I testified under oath that I have never supported, and am now opposed to, the limitations put on freedom by the Soviet Union. . . . My relationships with the United States Government were originally with the Music Advisory Committee to the Coordinator of Inter American Affairs and later as a lec
	 
	Later in 1953  
	 
	Copland’s scheduled appearances at the University of Alabama and the University of Colorado were canceled. The Los Angeles Chamber Symphony revoked an agreement for Copland to appear with them as conductor. Copland continued to be investigated by the FBI, especially after an unnamed informant claimed Copland was a member of the Communist Party. This claim was dismissed by the government November 30 1955. 
	 
	1954 September 
	A study about the blacklisting that was occurring in the entertainment industries was initiated by The Fund for the Republic as an examination of the effects of the publication of Red Channels. The Report on Blacklisting was written by John Cogley and published in 1956. 
	 
	 
	 
	1957 October 10 
	Copland presented the first of his four lecture-recitals at the University of Buffalo. 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Aaron Copland Unidentified photographer, distributed by Boosey & Hawkes 
	Music Department Collection MD02_011 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	The documents on the following pages show a sequence of documents that were written as a result of Aaron Copland’s appointment as Slee Lecturer of Music at the University of Buffalo (as it was called prior to becoming University at Buffalo when it joined the State University of New York system). It includes two letters by Cameron Baird standing firm in the face of the protests and a letter by Aaron Copland to Cameron Baird in which he offers a brief history of the issues. 
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